CONFIDENTIAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5259 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 8/6/2014)

10-GS-40-1178, 1179

RECEIVED

OCT 30 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

VICTOR A. WHITE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002230

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the majority of the Court of Appeals erred by finding it was harmless error for the trial court not to make sufficient findings as to whether petitioner's statement was admissible under *Missouri v. Siebert* and *State v. Navy*, where there was evidence petitioner's statement acknowledging he was at the crime scene was obtained under the "question first" tactic of obtaining an exculpatory statement and then only giving *Miranda* warnings, as a remand is necessary, at a minimum, under these circumstances for necessary fact findings?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Procedural history

Petitioner was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and armed robbery. His case was called to trial on October 3, 2011, before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. Kathryn Campbell Hubbard and Meghan L. Walker were the solicitors. Courtney Ann Gibbes and Mark A. Sawyer, Jr. represented petitioner. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on October 6, 2011, the jury found petitioner guilty. R. 476, ll. 15-23. Judge Newman sentenced petitioner to thirty five years imprisonment for murder, and twenty years imprisonment for armed robbery. R. 479, ll. 15-20.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 762 S.E.2d 726 (2014). App. 1-6. A petition for rehearing was filed August 21, 2014. App. 7-12. Rehearing was denied on September 18, 2014. App. 13. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The majority of the Court of Appeals erred by finding it was harmless error for the trial court not to make sufficient findings as to whether petitioner's statement was admissible under *Missouri v. Siebert* and *State v. Navy*, where there was evidence petitioner's statement acknowledging he was at the crime scene was obtained under the "question first" tactic of obtaining an inculpatory statement and then only giving *Miranda* warnings, as a remand is necessary, at a minimum, under these circumstances for necessary fact findings.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial a *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) hearing was held on the admissibility of petitioner's statement. Investigator Kevin Reese of the Columbia Police Department became involved in the case of a man who was shot in the Kentucky Fried Chicken parking lot near Benedict College on February 3, 2010. R. 8, l. 12 – 9, l. 3.

Petitioner became a suspect in the shooting. By working with cell phone companies, and by electronic interception, the police learned petitioner could be in the Cayce, South Carolina area. They suspected petitioner was near Tree Street where a relative lived. R. 9, ll. 4-17.

A week later, on February 10, 2010, as the police were combing the Tree Street area and knocking on doors, petitioner came outside and stood in a yard. He was taken into custody at that point. R. 9, l. 4 – 11, l. 3.

Reese acknowledged he had "a generalized conversation" with petitioner after his arrest. Reese "assumed" petitioner was suspicious that he may be being investigated for a homicide. However, petitioner was not told of that fact. R. 12, ll. 21-24; 19, ll. 9-17.

Reese said the police wanted to hear petitioner's version of what transpired. R. 11, ll. 17-20. Reese claimed he read petitioner his Miranda¹ warnings and he started interviewing petitioner. R. 12, l. 25 – 16, l. 10.

However, Reese acknowledged that he had interviewed petitioner *prior to* taking his "formal statement." Reese called this "**a rough ride**" where the police wanted "to see what his story is going to be and what kind of reaction he's going to give us during the process." R. 16, l. 11 – 18, l. 12. After petitioner gave "his version of events" he was arrested for murder and armed robbery. R. 18, ll. 20-25.

Petitioner testified during the suppression hearing that he asked the police what he was charged with when he was arrested. The officer in the squad car told him he did not know the charge. Petitioner was taken to the police headquarters and he began talking with the investigators while in custody. Petitioner was shown a picture of the victim and asked if he recognized him. Petitioner said: "I told him yeah. That's when he asked me, did I know what happened because he showed me a picture of the car and asked me, do I know what happened that night. **And that's when I began to tell him what I knew.**" R. 21, l. 15 – 24, l. 3. (emphasis added).

Petitioner signed the Miranda warnings form "**after I made my first statement, yeah . . .** that's when they got the tape recorder and said they needed a video, I mean, an audio . . . I told them the same thing I told them the first." R. 23, l. 20 – 24, l. 19. (emphasis added).

Following petitioner's testimony, Defense Counsel Gibbes argued that petitioner's statement should be suppressed because his Miranda warnings were not properly read at the proper time. Petitioner had testified he gave a statement before he was given his Miranda warnings. R. 27, ll. 12-20.

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

The trial judge found that petitioner's statement was freely and voluntarily given, and he denied the motion to suppress. The judge did not address petitioner's testimony that he gave a statement before he was given Miranda warnings – or the fact that Reese's testimony seemed to corroborate that fact -- nor did he rule on the legal arguments of counsel. There were simply no findings of facts or conclusions of law made by the judge. R. 27, l. 11 – 28, l. 5.

Petitioner argued to the Court of Appeals:

At a minimum, petitioner's case should be remanded for such fact findings and conclusions of law so this Court can properly review the evidence in the event it finds it fails to find petitioner's statement is inadmissible under the "question first," give Miranda warnings second, practice condemned in State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010) *citing* Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

Final brief of appellant at 7.

Trial evidence

Petitioner's statement was played for the jury, and was reduced to a transcript. R. 481. Petitioner stated that he was present in the car with the victim to buy or steal his marijuana. Unexpectedly, his friend Reggie Miller, who sat in the back seat of the car during the marijuana buy or planned robbery, shot the victim in the back of the head.

The police initially believed petitioner, but Miller agreed to talk to the police after he was confronted with the fact he had been named by petitioner as the triggerman. Miller then blamed the shooting on petitioner.

Miller was from Massachusetts and he took special education classes in High School there. R. 79, ll. 10-22. Miller maintained he was living on campus at Benedict College, and going to

school there. Miller claimed that he had a “rocky” relationship at first with petitioner because petitioner had stolen money from him. R. 80, l. 15 – 82, l. 1.

Miller testified petitioner called him that February evening wanting him to participate in a robbery of marijuana from a prospective seller. Petitioner did not attend Benedict College, but Miller said petitioner was often around the dormitory. Miller said his understanding was that the men were going to “grab the marijuana and run.” R. 83, ll. 9-14.

Miller repeated that he thought he was going to be involved in a robbery, but he claimed petitioner shot the victim in the head unexpectedly from the backseat, as he [Miller] sat in the front passenger seat. R. 87, ll. 6-19. Petitioner had earlier told the police that he was in the front seat when Miller, from the back seat, unexpectedly shot the drug dealing victim in the head. R. 88, ll. 1-12.

Jeremiah Henderson grew up in California and came to South Carolina to attend school. R. 132, ll. 1-4. On the night of the shooting he was in his dormitory room when petitioner, Reginald Miller and Demond Sanford came to his room. “They began to tell me about what had just happened.” Henderson claimed petitioner admitted that he shot the victim that night. Henderson maintained that petitioner was “very nonchalant” about it. R. 136, l. 2 – 138, l. 2.

Henderson also claimed he saw petitioner with “a bag of weed and two cell phones and a gun” that night. R. 138, ll. 3-7. No gun was ever recovered in this case.

Henderson maintained that petitioner wanted one of the other men to return to the victim’s car with him to steal the scales so they could weigh the marijuana. Henderson claimed Reggie Miller was “shaken up” at this time. R. 138, l. 21 – 140, l. 19.

Investigator Reese testified in the presence of the jury that petitioner seemed straightforward to him when he gave his statement. Reese did not think petitioner was being honest “about

everything,” but Reese did find petitioner to be straightforward and not evasive. Seemingly contradicting himself, Reese offered: “I didn’t believe he was telling - - he was fabricating 100 percent about Reggie Miller.” Reese admitted that petitioner gave him enough information to constitute probable cause for him to arrest Reggie Miller. R. 361, l. 18 – 363, l. 13.

Reese testified that petitioner readily admitted that he knew the victim, and that petitioner admitted being present, but he told Reese that Reggie Miller was the shooter. R. 363, l. 20 – 364, l. 18. Reese was allowed to opine that after his investigation he concluded petitioner was the shooter, and not Miller.² R. 380, ll. 5-11.

Defense counsel told the jurors in her closing statement that the state’s witnesses who claimed petitioner was the shooter were simply out to save themselves, that they were liars, and the jury should not believe them. R. 457, l. 12 – 458, l. 11.

Court of Appeals

The majority of the Court of Appeals held that “In the pre-trial Jackson v. Denno the trial court did not make an explicit finding as to whether White's statement was taken in violation of State v. Navy. Rather, the trial court simply found White's statement was ‘freely and voluntarily given and the jury will be able to hear the statement.’ Because White already conceded the voluntariness of his statement, but challenged the timing of the Miranda warnings with the taking of his statement as a Navy violation, the trial court was charged with making a factual finding as to this issue, i.e., whether the interrogative procedure through which the statement was obtained comported with Navy. Therefore, the trial court erred by not making sufficient findings of fact as to the statement's admissibility.” State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 762 S.E.2d 726, 727, 728 (2014). App. 3.

² This rank violation of the Rules of Evidence is presently not before this Court.

However, the majority found the error was harmless citing the testimony of Reggie Miller. As seen above, Miller implicated petitioner in the robbery-murder only after he learned petitioner had told the police that Miller unexpectedly shot the decedent. Miller then claimed petitioner unexpectedly shot the decedent. App. 4. The Court also noted Demond Sanford, the “lookout” for the crime, told the police that Miller, in an excited state told him that petitioner shot the decedent right after the shooting occurred. In addition, the Court relied on the fact that Jeremiah Henderson claimed petitioner boasted afterwards that he shot the decedent. App. 4-5.

Chief Judge Few in dissent wrote that: “From the trial court’s conclusory statement, we cannot determine whether the court admitted the statement for the reason the court expressed—the statement was freely and voluntarily given, a point the defendant conceded—or the court actually ruled on the issue raised—whether the police violated the principles set forth in Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 601–02, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643, and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 302, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010). In my opinion, however, if there was error in admitting the statement, the error was not harmless. I would remand for a hearing and require the trial court to make sufficient factual findings.” App. 5-6.

Discussion

Petitioner respectfully submits that this Court should grant certiorari and, at a minimum his case should be remanded for specific fact findings on this *significant constitutional issue* as the dissent in the Court of Appeals urged, since a finding of harmless error as to his inculpatory statement without any findings of fact on this issue is improper.

However, in the alternative, petitioner submits that this record is adequate for this Court to grant certiorari and hold that a constitutional violation occurred here under State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010) and Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004). Navy and Seibert

expressly forbid the practice of obtaining an inculpatory statement from a defendant before reading him his Miranda warning, reading the Miranda warning, and re-eliciting the incriminating information. Until the Miranda warning is given, no evidence obtained as a result of custodial interrogation may be used against a defendant at trial. See Seibert, 542 U.S. at 617; Navy, 386 S.C. at 303-04, 688 S.E.2d at 842.

In State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010), the Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider the opinion in State v. Navy, 370 S.C. 398, 635 S.E.2d 549 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006). This opinion held that all three of petitioner's inculpatory statements to the police should have been suppressed pursuant to Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) which noted that giving Miranda warnings *after* the defendant had made an unwarned confession rendered the confession inadmissible at trial.

This Court in State v. Navy, *supra*, affirmed the reasoning of the Court of Appeals excluding the second and third statements since it was apparent the Columbia Police Department was following a nationally promoted interrogation process of obtaining an inculpatory statement from a defendant *before* reading him his Miranda warning. (The same Police Department was involved in this case). This Court found that the Court of Appeals correctly concluded the officer's actions violated Seibert and therefore Navy's second and third statements had to be suppressed.³

Here, it is apparent from petitioner's testimony that the Columbia Police Department engaged in the forbidden Seibert interview or interrogation "question first" practice in this case. Petitioner said the police questioned him and he admitted he knew the victim, that he was present

³ The state's petition to the United States Supreme Court was denied. South Carolina v. Navy, 131 S. Ct. 141 (2010).

during the marijuana sale or robbery, and that Miller unexpectedly shot petitioner.

As seen, Investigator Reese found petitioner to be straightforward and he believed his statement sufficiently to arrest Miller. Miller refused to talk to the police but then accused petitioner of being the shooter when confronted with the fact that petitioner readily admitted his presence at the crime scene but named Miller as the shooter.

The statement of petitioner in this case was devastating because it allowed police to place petitioner at the crime scene. From there, the case became a swearing contest between the young men involved. Miller and Henderson both faced life sentences if they were convicted rather than petitioner.

In State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010) this Court held for a defendant to be regarded as a participant in a homicide, where he did not actually commit the homicidal act, that he must have aided, abetted, assisted, encouraged, or advised the killer and acted with the intention of encouraging and abetting the commission of a homicide. For one to be guilty under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory, the commission of the murder by the principal must be a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the defendant’s actions. Id. 388 S.C. at 484, 697 S.E.2d at 586.

In this case, the trial judge did not make any findings of fact or conclusions of law despite petitioner’s clear testimony, and the argument of defense counsel that petitioner’s inculpatory statement should be suppressed because he was questioned and gave an inculpatory statement where his Miranda warnings were not timely given before his inculpatory statement.

Again, at a minimum, petitioner is entitled to a remand so that the trial court can make findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon the testimony of petitioner, and the argument of his attorney based on this testimony. The dissent in the Court of Appeals properly found a remand was necessary, and that alone is a reason for this Court to grant certiorari. See Rule 242 (b)(2),

SCACR. Further, a substantial constitutional issue was ignored at the trial court level given the error by the trial court in not making findings of fact and conclusions of law as the majority of Court of Appeals held. See Rule 242 (b)(4), SCACR.