STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

2010-GS-40-1178, 1179
Appellate Case No. 2014-002230

RECEIVED

DEC 09 2014

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

VICTOR A. WHITE,

Petitioner

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar #5758

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor

P.O. Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

and the beginning of the recorded statement at 1:04 a.m. ROA 14, 20. The trial testimony of Investigator Reese and Sergeant Thomas was consistent with the “advise/warnings/waiver first, questions second” scenario. In denying the suppression motion, Judge Newman necessarily rejected the sole claim presented to him. This appeal must be rejected.

In Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643 (2004), the Court dealt with a police practice of initially questioning an in custody suspect until incriminating information is elicited, then administering Miranda warnings. Following the warnings, the suspect is again questioned and the incriminating information re-elicited. The post-warning statement is then sought to be admitted. The factors to be considered in determining whether a constitutional violation occurred in this setting, according to the Seibert plurality opinion, are:

- 1) the completeness and detail of the question and answers in the first round of interrogation;
- 2) the timing and setting of the first questioning and the second;
- 3) the continuity of police personnel; and
- 4) the degree to which the interrogator’s questions treated the second round as continuous with the first.

State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 302, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841–42 (Jan. 11, 2010). In Seibert,

Justice Kennedy noted that in Seibert, the two-step technique was used to deliberately avoid Miranda, using a strategy based on the assumption that Miranda warnings will mean less when given after an incriminating statement has already been made. Under these circumstances, Justice Kennedy agreed the statements must be suppressed unless “curative measures” were taken.

Navy, 386 S.C. at 302–03; 688 S.E.2d at 842. The South Carolina Supreme Court held the evidence of a deliberate police practice, the “question first” strategy, was not determinative in

Seibert. Navy, 386 S.C. at 304, 688 S.E.2d at 842.

In Navy, this Court noted:

The officers began the questioning of [defendant] with knowledge that the child had been suffocated and with the intention of eliciting a confession. After [defendant]’s first oral statement, the officers “sprang” the suffocation/healing rib fractures information on [defendant], and began an unwarned custodial interrogation designed to elicit incriminating information, that is, questioning designed to have [defendant] admit to having hit the child and to having smothered him. Once those incriminating answers were given—i.e. after [defendant] admitted he had popped the child on the back and “patted” his mouth—[defendant] was permitted a supervised cigarette break, then given Miranda warnings, with interrogation by the same officer resuming immediately. Thus the four elements outlined in Seibert were met here.

Navy, 386 S.C. at 303, 688 S.E.2d at 842.

The Supreme Court’s opinion in Siebert was, on its face, designed to address and remedy the then perceived common practice of a “question first, warn later” custodial interrogation strategy that was being used by some investigators. Siebert, 542 U.S. at 606. Under such a strategy, investigators intentionally questioned a suspect who was in custody, without reading the suspect his/her rights, and then, after a confession is obtained, warning the suspect and re-taking the confession. In Siebert, both the pre-Miranda statements and the post- Miranda statements were taken from a suspect after the suspect was arrested and placed in custody at the police station. Siebert, 542 U.S. at 605. Moreover, the officers deliberately employed a “question-first strategy” as a calculated strategy to elicit a confession. Siebert, 542 U.S. at 606. In deciding that this practice was inappropriate, the U.S. Supreme Court wanted to prohibit an “end run” around Miranda. Siebert, 542 U.S. at 606.

Here, however, the facts do not support the Petitioner’s contentions that he was subjected to a “question first, advise later” form addressed in Navy and Siebert. According to Investigator

Reese, the interview session with White at his office began with the advice of rights form being prepared. ROA 12-13, 361. His testimony is supported by the fact that the form was signed on 11:55 p.m. ROA 13-14, 19, 20, 287, 341 [State Exhibit 1 - advisement of rights form. ROA 480]. The testimony at trial was that Petitioner was arrested for the probation violation in Cayce around 11:30 p.m. and then transported to the Columbia Police Department. ROA 10-11, 284, l. 18-21, 336. This is consistent with Investigator Reese's version. Further, there is a time frame of one hour between the advice of rights at 11:30 and 1:04 a.m. when the recorded interview began. ROA 20, l. 8-10, State Exhibits 1, State Exhibit 2, State Exhibit 3 [ROA 481].

The State's testimony was consistent that the questioning of the Petitioner began after the advice of his rights.⁸ First, Investigator Reese stated that prior to getting to his office and advising him, he did not try to get information from White and "we didn't talk about the case." ROA 12, l. 21-24. Also, ROA 386, ll.15-19. Second, Investigator Reese testified that "right after advising him of his rights and him agreeing to talk with the investigators, we went through what we call a rough ride . . .to see what his story is going to be ..." ROA 16, ll. 16-21. Also, ROA 23, l. 9 - p. 24, l. 16. On cross-examination, Investigator Reese confirmed that the showing of the pictures to White "definitely would have been after" the Miranda warnings. ROA 20, l. 1-16. See also, ROA 361, ll. 1-20 (Investigator Reese's consistent trial testimony about the timing of the showing of the photographs); ROA 312-313 (Sgt. Thomas trial testimony similar). Third, there is the time period between the 11:55 advice of rights and the recorded statement to support that the dry run was subsequent to the advice of rights rather than before.

The trial judge was squarely faced with making a credibility determination concerning

⁸ Sergeant Thomas confirmed that this was their practice to advise first. ROA 312, l. 4-13..

the timing of the warnings. Each side declared credibility to be the issue. The defense acknowledged that the issue was not whether the statement was voluntary, but the timing issue was whether the Miranda warnings were read prior to giving an initial statement. ROA 27. The prosecution stated that this was a credibility issue and that the credible testimony was that he was advised properly. ROA 27-28. The trial judge's conclusion that the "statement was freely and voluntarily entered" implicitly rejected the defense's claim that the pictures were shown and the discussion of the facts began before the Miranda warnings were given at 11:55 p.m. ROA 28-29. The State's burden was to prove that the statement was voluntary and taken in compliance with Miranda. State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 339 S.E.2d 692 (1986). The trial judge's resolution of the issue of voluntariness of a statement should not be disturbed on appeal absent an error of law. State v. Atchison, 268 S.C. 588, 235 S.E.2d 294 (1977). When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

It should be noted that the crime and interrogation happened after the decisions of Siebert (2004) and Navy (January 10, 2010). In Navy, Justice Pleicones for the majority noted that the Siebert issue did not turn on whether there was an established and deliberate practice of "question first, advise later" and that since Siebert had not been decided at the time of the Navy trial, it was not surprising that defense counsel did not question the officers on whether they had used a "question first, warn later" strategy. Justice Pleicones emphasized that the Siebert court acknowledged that it was unlikely that law enforcement would admit it was using the "question first" technique, and thus that officers were following this [question first] protocol was not

necessary to find a Miranda violation. 386 S.C. 294, 304, 688 S.E.2d 838.

However, Respondent submit that this should not be read that a Siebert claim is completely met by the mere presentation of evidence that claims a defendant was questioned first, then warned. The burden of proof remains on the prosecution to prove that Miranda and Siebert were complied with by the warnings of a custodial person prior to the interrogation. As in this case, the two conflicting versions demanded the trial judge to weigh whether Investigator Reese's testimony was credible that the warnings came before the inquiry. Respondent submits the trial judge concluded that the correct version derived from Investigator Reese. The appeal must be dismissed since there was no Siebert violation.

REMAND FOR FURTHER FINDING ALTERNATIVE

While White maintains in his Petition that he is entitled to a new trial, he alternately contends that the appropriate remedy is to remand this case for a suppression hearing only "so that the court can make findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon the testimony of the Petitioner and argument of his attorney based on this testimony." State v. White, Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 11, 12.6 This one-sided suggestion ignores that if a remand were made it should include consideration of the investigators' testimonies and argument of the state. As noted above, Respondent submit that the trial court's finding implicitly concluded that the investigators version was correct. The timing and credibility issue was squarely presented. Both Navy and Siebert had already been decided at the time of the trial. No suggestion was made after the trial

6 In the dissent below, Chief Judge Few concluded that he agreed with the majority that the trial court failed to make sufficient factual findings. From the trial court's conclusory statement, Judge Few was of the opinion that based upon the "conclusory" statement of Judge Newman it could not be determined whether the court admitted the statement for the reason the court expressed—the statement was freely and voluntarily given or the court actually ruled on the issue raised before Judge Newman - whether the police violated the principles set forth in *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 601–02, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643, and *State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 302, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010). In his opinion, however, if there was error in admitting the statement, the error was not harmless. I would remand for a hearing and require the trial court to make sufficient factual findings. App.p. 5-6.

court denied suppression that Judge Newman needed further fact finding by either party. The result was understood that the defense's contested fact based claim was rejected.

However, neither the Constitution nor the Jackson v. Denno decision mandate a new trial, if, in a soundly conducted collateral proceeding, appellant's confession is determined to be voluntary. State v. Cannon, 248 S.C. 506, 151 S.E.2d 752 (1966).⁷ In fact, these cases, and others like them, establish the precedent that makes necessary a remand of an issue that the trial judge, as opposed to the jury, was required to decide where the record shows the trial judge failed to decide the issue and the record does not affirmatively show a remand would be inappropriate. If this court is of the opinion that Judge Newman did not resolve the factual issue, then a remand would be an appropriate course. As noted above, Respondent submits that Judge Newman implicitly made that finding.

HARMLESS ERROR

The Petitioner suggests in his brief that the error in the admission of his statement could not be harmless error because the statement placed Petitioner at the crime scene. However, in

⁷ See also State v. Primus, 312 S.C. 256, 440 S.E.2d 128 (1994) (since determination of whether appellant was "in custody" presents a factual issue, the case was remanded to circuit court for a Jackson v. Denno hearing); State v. Fortner, 266 S.C. 223, 222 S.E.2d 508 (1976) (although appellant is entitled to a new hearing on the issue of voluntariness, he is not necessarily entitled to a new trial); But see State v. Victor, 387 S.E.2d at 250 (remand for suppression hearing only inadequate remedy where the jury never considered the issue of voluntariness); State v. Creech, 314 S.C. 76, 87, 441 S.E.2d 635, 641 (S.C.App. 1994); State v. Fortner, 266 S.C. 223, 222 S.E.2d 508 (1976) (wherein the court, because the trial judge failed to conduct a proper hearing on the voluntariness of the defendant's confession, remanded a conviction for housebreaking and grand larceny pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 L.Ed.2d 908 (1964)); State v. Callahan, 263 S.C. 35, 208 S.E.2d 284 (1974) (wherein the court, because the trial judge failed to make specific findings regarding whether a confession had been tainted by use of articles illegally obtained, remanded convictions of burglary, rape, and robbery for a determination of whether the defendant's confession was voluntary), cert. denied, 420 U.S. 981, 95 S.Ct. 1411, 43 L.Ed.2d 663 (1975); State v. Curley, 253 S.C. 513, 171 S.E.2d 699 (wherein the court, because the trial judge failed to make an independent determination of whether the warnings required by Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966), had been given the defendant and whether his privilege against self-incrimination had been voluntarily and intelligently waived, remanded a safecracking conviction for appropriate findings), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 834, 91 S.Ct. 69, 27 L.Ed.2d 66, and cert. denied, 400 U.S. 834, 91 S.Ct. 70, 27 L.Ed.2d 66 (1970); State v. Cannon, 248 S.C. 506, 151 S.E.2d 752 (1966) (a capital case wherein the court remanded a rape conviction for an independent determination of the voluntariness of the defendant's confession), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991).

making his assessment, White claims “if the jury believed Petitioner’s statement [that had Miller as the triggerman] and found Miller shooting the victim was not foreseeable, appellant could not be convicted under the “hand of one hand of all” theory.” Petition, 13.⁹ This is an odd approach because it suggests that it was in the appellant’s interest and defense to have the statement introduced to combat evidence of the state’s witness, i.e. that it aided his defense that the planned robbery with the accomplices had been called off and that Miller was acting independent of him. Respondent is unclear how this admission would contribute to the guilty verdict. The Petitioner also claimed in his brief that the statement was devastating because it allowed police to place White at the crime scene. Brief, p. 10. See State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010) (a defendant who has not actually committed the homicidal act must have aided, abetted, assisted, encouraged, or advised the killing and acted with the intention of encouraging and abetting the commission of the homicide in order to be regarded as a participant in a homicide)¹⁰; State v. Peterson, 287 S.C. 244, 335 S.E.2d 801 (1985) (law required the homicide was a natural or probable consequence of the acts actually agreed on by the appellants before the law

⁹ At the conclusion of the case, in requesting a mere presence charge, defense counsel relied upon the Petitioner’s statement that White had agreed to buy weed and that there was to be a drug deal, however in his statement he did not think that Reggie was going to do a robbery because White had told him because the seller was his brother’s friend that he couldn’t do it and that he thought it was no longer an issue. ROA 387. However, he notes that within the statement, White stated that he eventually took \$400 out of the victim’s pocket. State Exhibit 3, ROA 503-504. However, the defense noted that their defense was White’s statement. ROA 394.

¹⁰ It is well settled that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000). “Under the ‘hand of one is the hand of all’ theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 324 (Ct.App.2002).

“Under accomplice liability theory, ‘a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act.’ “ State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648–49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999).

“In order to be guilty as an aider or abettor, the participant must be chargeable with knowledge of the principal’s criminal conduct.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1987); see Wilson v. Wilson, 319 S.C. 370, 373, 461 S.E.2d 816, 817 (1995) (“Prior knowledge that a crime is going to be committed, without more, is not sufficient to make a person guilty of the crime.”).

would hold him responsible for such a homicide).

The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is “whether it appears ‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.’” “State v. Charping, 313 S.C. 147, 157, 437 S.E.2d 88, 94 (1993) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (2008). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it ‘could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.’” Id. (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)).

Engaging in this harmless error analysis, the issue is not whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the alleged trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict. See State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 334, 563 S.E.2d 315, 319 (2002) (harmless error jurisprudence requires that the error not contribute to the verdict obtained).

In finding Petitioner guilty, the jury made a number of factual determinations. Even without defendant’s admissions to some involvement in the robbery plan - albeit limiting his role in the shooting, the undisputed evidence of his participation in the crime was extensive. As set forth in Respondent’s Statement of the Facts, *infra.*, at pages 1-4, Reggie Miller, Demond Sanford and Jeremiah Henderson and Nathaniel Jones each testified and corroborated the Petitioner’s culpability in the crime and placed him at the crime scene. Further forensic data tied Petitioner’s telephone to making the last call on the victim’s phone, corroborating the testimony

that Petitioner had planned the robbery and inveigled the unsuspecting victim to the KFC. Independent evidence placed Petitioner with a weapon. These witnesses testified in consistent detail about defendant's actions and location. Petitioner's motive was thus independently established by the testimony of Reggie Miller, Demond Sanford and Jeremiah Henderson. The Petitioner's argument that the statement's admission provided a potential defense to Petitioner based upon his claim that Miller was the shooter, not Petitioner does not create harmful error. See State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006) ("When guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other rational conclusion could be reached, this [c]ourt will not set aside a conviction for insubstantial errors not affecting the result."). The Court of Appeals reliance upon these factors in making the harmless error conclusion is a reasonable interpretation of the record upon proper appellate review.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be dismissed and judgment of conviction affirmed. Alternately, if the Court is of the opinion that the fact-finding on the issue concerning the timing of the warnings was inadequate, a limited remand to the Honorable Clifton Newman would be appropriate rather than a new trial.